I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

 

This is an appeal from the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in 

Lynch v. State, 260 So. 3d 1166 (Fla. 1st DCA 2018), motion for rehearing denied 

January 17, 2019.  Willie Allen Lynch (Petitioner) was tried and convicted of sale 

of cocaine and sentenced to eight years in prison to be followed by five years of 

probation.  Two undercover detectives with the Jacksonville Sheriff’s Office (JSO) 

purchased crack cocaine from an unknown African American male on a public 

street in Jacksonville.  The undercover detectives did not arrest the man at the time 

of the sale because they did not want to jeopardize an unrelated, ongoing 

investigation.  One of the investigators used a cell phone to surreptitiously take 

several photos of the drug seller.  With no idea who the drug seller was, the 

detectives later emailed the photographs to a JSO crime analyst who imported 

them into a facial recognition computer program maintained by the Hillsborough 

County Sheriff’s Department.  The analyst used the computer program to compare 

the photos of the drug seller to photos of African American males in a database of 

Duval County jail booking photos.  The facial recognition program returned 

multiple possible matches to the drug seller’s photo.  One of the possible matches 

was Petitioner.  The analyst sent Petitioner’s photo, biographical information, and 

criminal history to the detectives and told them that she thought Petitioner was the 
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drug seller.  The analyst did not send the detectives any photos of the other 

potential matches returned by the facial recognition program.  Petitioner was then 

charged on December 31, 2015, with the cocaine sale. 

 Petitioner alleged ineffective assistance of counsel against his appointed 

lawyer and requested a Nelson
1
 hearing on three separate occasions between 

February 16, 2016, and March 31, 2016.  At each of these Nelson hearings the trial 

court found that Petitioner’s appointed counsel was not ineffective.  On March 31, 

2016, Petitioner requested to represent himself.  The trial court denied his request.  

On April 22, 2016, the trial court granted Petitioner’s request to represent himself 

with appointed counsel as standby counsel.  On April 27, 2016, Petitioner’s 

appointed standby counsel deposed the JSO analyst, whose name was not 

originally disclosed in the State’s discovery exhibit.  It was at this deposition, eight 

days before the final pretrial hearing, that the defense learned of the police’s use of 

the facial recognition computer program to identify Petitioner as the drug seller.  

The analyst testified at her deposition that the computer program puts some 

amount of stars underneath the photo it believes is more likely than the other 

photos to be a match and arranges the photos based on likeliness of a match.  She 

did not know the maximum number of stars a particular photo could have.  She 

                                         

 
1
 Nelson v. State, 274 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973). 
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testified that the program does not give certainty percentages for its match 

determinations.  She did not know how the computer program’s algorithms 

worked.     

Eight days later, at the final pretrial hearing, Petitioner requested to represent 

himself without standby counsel.  The trial court granted his request.  The trial was 

scheduled to begin on May 10, 2016.  On May 9, 2016, Petitioner moved for a 

two-week continuance so that he could subpoena his witnesses, including the 

analyst, for trial.  His appointed counsel had not subpoenaed the analyst for trial 

while she was his counsel or standby counsel.  Petitioner stated to the trial court 

that he needed “a chance to get [his] witnesses,” that he had not had an opportunity 

to subpoena his witnesses, and that it was vital to his defense.   The trial court 

denied Petitioner’s continuance. 

Petitioner also moved the trial court to order the State to turn over the photos 

of the other potential matches returned by the analyst’s facial recognition search.  

The State had never turned over the photos, though they were in the possession of 

its agent: the JSO analyst.  In response, the State indicated that it was not planning 

to call the analyst or introduce evidence of “the biometric software that was used to 

identify the defendant.”  The State was concerned that the facial recognition 
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program would not satisfy Daubert’s
2
 admissibility requirements.  The trial court 

ruled that the State did not have to turn over the photographs of the other potential 

matches.  The trial court told Petitioner he was entitled to ask at trial about the 

identification procedure that was utilized in this case
3
. 

Petitioner appealed his conviction to the First District Court of Appeal.  The 

First District Court of Appeal affirmed Petitioner’s conviction.  Petitioner now 

seeks discretionary review.      

 

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 The First District’s holding in Lynch that the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion by denying Petitioner’s motion to continue directly conflicts with the 

Fourth District’s holding in Sessions v. State, 965 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007).  

Sessions requires the trial court to consider a list of specific factors before ruling 

on a motion to continue when either counsel for a defendant or a pro se defendant 

himself asserts that he needs more time to prepare a defense for trial.  The trial 

court in the instant case did not consider the Sessions factors before denying 

                                         

 
2 
Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993).  At the time 

of Petitioner’s trial Daubert was thought to be the standard for admitting scientific 

evidence in Florida. 
3
 Petitioner’s request to have the analyst subpoenaed was denied, and the State did 

not subpoena the analyst.  Petitioner was unable to solicit any testimony regarding 

the identification procedure at trial.
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Petitioner’s motion to continue.  The First District’s finding in Lynch that no 

reversible error occurred directly contradicts the holding in Sessions.  As a result, 

this Court has jurisdiction. 

The First District’s finding in Lynch that the trial court did not commit 

reversible error when it failed to conduct an adequate Richardson
4
 hearing is in 

direct conflict with the Fourth District’s holding in Brown v. State, 640 So. 2d 106 

(Fla. 4th DCA 1994).  Brown requires the trial court to conduct an adequate 

Richardson hearing when there is a potential discovery violation.  The trial court in 

the instant case did not conduct an adequate Richardson hearing.  The conflict 

between Lynch and Brown provides this Court with jurisdiction.   

The First District’s construction of the Due Process Clause of the Federal 

Constitution not to require the State to turn over the exculpatory photos of the 

other potential matches to the drug seller returned by the facial recognition 

program was error and provides this Court with discretionary jurisdiction. 

 

  

 

 

                                         

 
4
 Richardson v. State, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971). 
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III. ARGUMENT 

I. This Court should resolve a conflict between the 

First District’s holding in Lynch and the Fourth 

District’s holding in Sessions. 

 

 This Court has jurisdiction to review the First District’s decision in Lynch 

under Article V, section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution.  The First District’s 

opinion in Lynch conflicts with the Fourth District’s opinion in Sessions.  In 

Sessions, the Fourth District, citing D.N. v. State, 855 So. 2d 258, 260 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2003),  held that a trial court must consider the following specific factors 

when deciding on a defendant’s request for a continuance after being allowed to 

represent himself: 

(1) time available for preparation; (2) likelihood of 

prejudice from the denial; (3) defendant’s role in 

shortening preparation time; (4) complexity of the case; 

(5) availability of discovery; (6) adequacy of counsel 

actually provided; and (7) skill and experience of chosen 

counsel and his pre-retention experience with either the 

defendant or the alleged crime. 

 

Sessions at 194.  This holding has been recognized and followed previously by the 

First District in Madison v. State, 132 So. 3d 237, 240 (Fla. 1st DCA 2013) 

(“timeliness being among the seven factors that we, and by implication a trial 

court, must consider in balancing the interests at stake”).  These factors were 

originally announced in McKay v. State, 504 So. 2d 1280, 1282 (Fla. 1st DCA 
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1986).  Three additional factors to be considered by the trial court when deciding 

whether to grant a continuance were announced in Jackson v. State, 979 So. 2d 

442, 445 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008), and recognized in Madison: 

(1) whether the defendant’s request was made in bad 

faith or for the purpose of delay, (2) whether the State’s 

case would be prejudiced by a continuance, or (3) 

whether the trial court’s schedule would not permit a 

continuance. 

 

 Madison at 242.  The First District, in Madison, viewed the additional three 

factors “as subsumed within the McKay factors,” which must be considered when 

a trial court rules on a defendant’s request for a continuance. Madison at 242.  

 In the instant case, the trial court did not consider the McKay factors when it 

denied Petitioner’s request for a two-week continuance so that he could subpoena 

his witnesses and present his defense at trial.  The First District in Lynch 

concluded that the trial court did not commit reversible error.  The First District’s 

conclusion in Lynch conflicts with the holdings in Sessions, D.N., and Madison.  

II. This Court should resolve a conflict between the 

First District’s holding in Lynch and the Fourth 

District’s holding in Brown. 

 

This Court has jurisdiction to review the First District’s decision in Lynch 

under Article V, section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution.  The First District’s 

opinion in Lynch conflicts with the Fourth District’s opinion in Brown.  In Brown, 

the Fourth District held that a trial court has an affirmative obligation to hold a 
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Richardson hearing once it is put on notice that there has been a discovery 

violation. Brown at 107.  During a Richardson hearing, the trial court must first 

determine whether a discovery violation actually occurred. Giles v. State, 916 So. 

2d 55, 57 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005).  If the trial court determines there was a violation, 

then it must assess whether the State’s discovery violation was inadvertent or 

willful, whether the violation was trivial or substantial, and most importantly, what 

effect it had on the defendant’s ability to prepare for trial. Id.  A trial court’s 

rulings regarding the three-prongs of Richardson are reviewed for an abuse of 

discretion, but its discretion can be exercised only following a proper inquiry. 

Brown v. State, 165 So. 3d 726, 729 (Fla. 4th DCA 2015).  Where there has been 

an inadequate Richardson hearing the discovery violation is reviewed for harmless 

error. Brown at 729.  However, the discovery violation can be found harmless only 

if the appellate court can say beyond a reasonable doubt that the defense was not 

procedurally prejudiced by the discovery violation. Id. It is the State’s burden to 

show that the error was harmless. Id.  The State must show in the record that the 

defendant was not prejudiced by the discovery violation. Id.  The State’s burden to 

show that a discovery violation was harmless is extraordinarily high. Id.   

In Lynch, the trial court was placed on notice by Petitioner’s request that the 

trial court order the State to turn over the photographs of the other potential 

matches returned by the facial recognition computer program, which were in the 
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sole possession of the State’s agent and which had not previously been given to the 

defense.  The defense did not even learn that a facial recognition computer 

program had been used to identify Petitioner as a suspect in this case until eight 

days before the final pretrial hearing.  The trial court did not make any of the 

required Richardson findings.  The photographs were never produced by the State 

for the trial court to review.  The trial court did not consider Appellant’s argument 

that these other possible matches were potential suspects who Appellant should 

have been provided with in preparation for his trial, where he was arguing 

misidentification as his defense.  The State presented nothing in the record to show 

that the discovery violation was not harmless.  The Lynch court held that the trial 

court did not err.  The holding in Lynch conflicts with holdings from the Second 

and Fourth Districts in Giles, Brown, and Brown, which require a trial court to 

make certain, specific findings during a Richardson hearing.  

III. The First District’s construction of the Due 

Process Clause in Lynch provides this Court with 

discretionary jurisdiction.  

  

This Court has jurisdiction to review the First District’s decision in Lynch 

under Article V, section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution.  The Due Process 

Clause of the Federal Constitution requires the State to turn over all exculpatory 

information within its possession or control to a criminal defendant. Brady v. 
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Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).  The First District’s opinion in Lynch construing 

this Constitutional requirement not to include the photos of the other potential 

matches returned by the facial recognition computer program was error.  This 

Court’s jurisdiction is properly invoked. See Potvin v. Keller, 313 So. 2d 703, n. 1 

(Fla. 1975) (holding that this Court’s discretionary jurisdiction was properly 

invoked where the district court ruled that there had been “no constitutional 

infirmity” in the lower court.  This Court stated, “This construction of the United 

States Constitution was sufficient to confer jurisdiction for our review.”).  

The photos of the other potential matches to the drug seller were exculpatory 

in that they were other potential suspects.  These photos were not shown to the 

detectives or the jury.  Obviously, if there were photographs of other suspects who 

were possible matches for the drug seller, these photos could have cast doubt upon 

the identification of Petitioner as the drug seller.  Petitioner’s sole defense at trial 

was misidentification.  The photos of the other potential matches were exculpatory, 

and Petitioner should have been able to present those in his defense at trial.  The 

First District’s holding to the contrary in Lynch was error. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, Petitioner respectfully 

requests that this Court exercise its discretion to accept jurisdiction of this case.