#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE ALLEN LYNCH,

Petitioner,

 $\mathbf{v}$  .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC19-0298

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ASHLEY MOODY ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA M. PATE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0045489

KAITLIN R. WEISS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 106130

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 crimapptlh@myfloridalegal.com Kaitlin.Weiss@myfloridalegal.com (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX) COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Lynch, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number. A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, attached hereto. They can also be found at Lynch v. State, 260 So. 3d 1166 (Fla. 1st DCA 2018). Undercover officers, posing as drug buyers, were approached in their car by a man who identified himself as "Midnight," from whom they purchased crack cocaine. Id. "Midnight" appeared suddenly, and the officers did not have time to activate their recording system. Id. One officer surreptitiously took a photograph of "Midnight" with his cell phone. Id. That photograph was sent to the crime lab where an analyst used a database of mugshots to run a search for the neighborhood, nickname "Midnight," and basic characteristics of

the man. Id. at 1169. The analyst also used a facial-recognition program to compare the officer's photograph to mugshots. Id. Petitioner's photograph was returned in this search, which the analyst sent to the officers, who identified Petitioner as the man who sold them crack. Prior to trial, the crime analyst who conducted the search was deposed, but was not called as a witness by the State or defense at trial. Id. The trial court excluded the other photographs returned by the software, saying they were not relevant. The First District held that this was not a Brady violation because:

To prevail under Brady, Lynch had to show "that there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different if the suppressed documents had been disclosed to the defense." Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 289, 119 S.Ct. 1936, 144 L.Ed.2d 286 (1999) (marks omitted). He has not made that showing here. First, because he cannot show that the other photos the database returned resembled him, he cannot show that they would have supported his argument that someone in one of those photos was the culprit. Second, his attorney stated on the record that she did not want to call the analyst who evaluated the photos because the analyst's testimony that Lynch was the man in the officers' photos would only corroborate the officers' testimony. And third, the jury convicted only after comparing the photo the officers took to Lynch himself and to confirmed photos of Lynch. Under these circumstances, we cannot conclude that Lynch met his burden to demonstrate prejudice under Brady.

Id. at 1170

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The operative facts, as contained within the "four corners" of the First District Court of Appeal (First DCA) decision reveals no express and direct conflict with any district court of appeal or the Supreme Court on the same question of law. There is also no jurisdiction based on a construction of a provision of the Due Process Clause, because the First DCA did not expressly construe any constitutional provisions in the decision. Nor is there jurisdiction based on a question of great public importance, because the First DCA did not certify a question. The First District applied well-settled law to the facts of this case. Because Petitioner has not established a constitutional basis for this Court to exercise its jurisdiction, jurisdiction should be declined.

#### ARGUMENT

# HAS PETITIONER SHOWN A BASIS FOR THIS COURT TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION? (RESTATED)

## A. Standard of Review.

The applicable standard of review is de novo subject to the following criteria.

## B. Jurisdictional Criteria.

Petitioner cites Article V, §3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution as the grounds for this court's jurisdiction. (PJB-6). Article V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const. provides: "The supreme court may review any decision of a district court of appeal that... expressly construes a provision of the state or federal constitution... or that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." Article V, §3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution also allows jurisdiction when a district court of appeal "passes upon a question certified by it to be of great public importance."

In the case at bar, the First DCA's opinion was based on well settled law applied to the facts of this case. There is no conflict with any other case. Nor is there a certified question of great public importance, or any express interpretation of the U.S. Constitution that would warrant this Court accepting jurisdiction.

Because there is no basis for jurisdiction, this Court must dismiss this case.

## C. The First DCA's Decision in Lynch

In Lynch v. State, 260 So. 3d 1166 (Fla. 1st DCA 2018), Petitioner was convicted of selling crack cocaine and sentenced to eight years in prison. In affirming Lynch's conviction, the First DCA did not certify conflict with any other district, nor did they certify a question of great public importance. The First DCA ruled that the State did not violate Brady in not turning over the photographs from the facial-recognition system because there was no probability that the trial results would have been different, without making any specific finding or comment on the Due Process Clause. The First DCA also summarily rejected Lynch's arguments regarding the denial of a motion for continuance, and the sufficiency of the Richardson hearing.

## D. The Fourth District's Decision in Sessions

In Sessions v. State, 965 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007) the Fourth District held that the trial court abused its discretion in denying a motion for continuance after failing to consider certain factors when ruling on the motion.

## E. The Fourth District's Decision in Brown

In  $Brown\ v.\ State$ , 640 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the Fourth District ruled that a court has an obligation to conduct a

Richardson hearing once the court is aware of a discovery violation.

## F. Why Lynch Does Not Conflict With Sessions and Brown

The First District's opinion in Lynch does not expressly and directly conflict with the cases cited by Petitioner. For this Court to accept jurisdiction, the conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Accord, Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So.2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986) (rejected "inherent" or "implied" conflict; dismissed petition).

In this case, Petitioner is attempting to use the trial record to establish jurisdiction. Petitioner's brief argues about the way the trial court analyzed the continuance request, and Petitioner argues at length about the series of events surrounding the Richardson hearing during the trial. (PJB-6-9). Petitioner is using the facts from the record to claim conflict with the decisions of other districts, an act which case law prohibits. Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980) (It is the "conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari.").

To satisfy the constitutional requirements for jurisdiction, the First DCA's decision must expressly conflict with the decision of another district court of appeal. The First DCA's opinion in Lynch on the issue surrounding the Richardson hearing and motion for continuance, in its entirety, states:

We have considered and rejected Lynch's remaining arguments, including his argument that the trial court held an insufficient *Richardson* hearing, his argument that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion for a continuance, and his arguments that the trial court should have grated a mistrial. We have carefully considered all arguments presented, and we conclude that none presents a basis for reversal.

Lynch, at 1172.

This language, while not a per curiam decision, contains no legal holding or analysis that expressly contradicts any other case, nor does it address any question of law. See Wells v. State, 132 So. 3d 1110, 1112 (Fla. 2014). An attempt to create conflict through the trial record is improper. Because there is no conflict in the four corners of the opinion that expressly contradicts a decision in another district, this Court must dismiss for lack of jurisdiction.

#### G. The Due Process Clause

Petitioner next argues that "the First District's construction of the Due Process Clause" provides this Court with jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(3). (PJB-9). Specifically, Petitioner argues that the First District's decision in Lynch that

the photographs of the defendant were not *Brady* material is a decision that expressly construes the Constitutional Due Process Clause, thus allowing this court to invoke discretionary jurisdiction. (PJB-10). This is not the case. The opinion in *Lynch* makes clear that the First DCA is applying federal principles to the facts of this case by analyzing if the photographs were *Brady* material based on their potential impact on the outcome of the trial. *Lynch*, at 1170. There is no written statement about the Due Process Clause as it applies to the photographs in *Lynch*. A decision that only applies Constitutional principles but does not construe them is not a basis to invoke the jurisdiction of this court. *See Page v. State*, 113 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 1959).

## H. No Certified Question of Great Public Importance

The First DCA did not certify a question of great public importance in this case. Article V, §3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution grants jurisdiction on an issue of great public importance only when the lower court "passes upon a question certified by it to be of great public importance." Because no question was certified, there is no jurisdiction on this basis.

## CONCLUSION

Because Petitioner has not established a basis for this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court dismiss this case for lack of jurisdiction.